FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/22/2025 8:00 AM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

Supreme Court No.

Court of Appeals No. 58577-4-II

Case #: 1044887

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### IN RE

#### THE MATTER OF

## THE GILBERT MILLER TESTAMENTARY CREDIT SHELTER TRUST,

#### AND

#### THE ESTATE OF MARY EVELYN MILLER

On Appeal from Lewis County Superior Court Cause No. 17-4-00179-21

#### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Todd S. Rayan, WSBA #34090 Althauser Rayan Abbarno, LLP 114 W. Magnolia Street P.O. Box 210 Centralia, WA 98531 (360) 736-1301

**Attorney for Petitioners** 

##

# I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The Petitioners and Cross Appellants are the beneficiaries of the Gilbert Miller Testamentary Credit Shelter Trust (hereafter Beneficiaries). The Beneficiaries respectfully request that this Court accept discretionary review of the Court of Appeals unpublished interlocutory decision affirming the trial court which held that there was no clear, cogent and convincing evidence of an equitable base to impose a constructive trust in favor of the Beneficiaries. In re Gilbert Miller Testamentary Credit Shelter Tr. 2025 Wash. App. LEXIS 1423 (July 22, 2025) (unpublished). (Miller II). Petitioners further request that this Court accept discretionary review of the cross appeal decision which held that the trial court abused its discretion in denying the Estate's motion to alter or amend the judgment by finding the Estate had failed to properly raise a claim and therefore entered a judgment that was not final.

First, the Court of Appeals committed probable error because there was clear, cogent and convincing evidence that the intent of Evelyn Miller (Evelyn)<sup>1</sup> was to transfer her interest in the commercial property (Property) into the trust and there was no evidence that Gilbert Miller (Gib) intended any portion of his trust to go to the City of Winlock. The equitable base is established by interpreting the intent of Gib's Will, not Evelyn's.

Second, the Court of Appeals committed probable error when it held the trial court abused its discretion in disallowing a money judgment when the Estate did not make a counter claim, no evidence was presented at trial regarding damages, and the Estate did not seek a new trial or seek a motion to re-open the judgment to receive such evidence.

Finally, the Court of Appeals has departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings by granting Cross Appellants relief for which they did not raise in their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This brief uses first names for clarity, intending no disrespect.

notice of appeal and based on clams for relief they never requested from the trial court.

### II. DECISION BELOW

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion issued on July 22, 2025. (Appx. A).

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals commit probable error which substantially alters the status quo (RAP 13.5(b)(2)) or did the Court of Appeals so far depart from the usual course of judicial proceedings to call for the exercise of revisory jurisdiction of the Supreme Court (RAP 13.5(b)(3)) when:

A: It held that Evelyn's intent with respect to the specific Beneficiaries was dispositive.

B: It held that there was no evidence that either Evelyn or Gib intended to benefit the Beneficiaries.

C: It held that the Trial Court abused its discretion in determining the Estate failed to properly make a claim and by entering a judgment.

D: It failed to consider that the Estate never presented any evidence of damages at trial and did not seek relief under CR 59(a) or CR 59(g).

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Gib and Evelyn were married and had one child, Leah Owens. *In re Gilbert Miller Testamentary Credit Shelter Tr.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 99, 101, 462 P3d 878 (2020) (*Miller I*).<sup>2</sup> Gib and Evelyn owned a commercial property (Property) and other assets such that their combined estate was subject to potential estate taxes. Ex. 117 at 1.

Gib and Evelyn worked with attorney Ralph Olson to create their wills, who recommended the inclusion of testamentary Credit Shelter Trusts (CST). *Id*, CP 685-86, FF 25 The trusts provided that upon the first of them to die, a portion of the decedent's estate equal to the largest amount that could pass free from estate tax be transferred into the CST. CP at 15-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals cited undisputed facts from the first opinion in this matter and this brief will do the same.

16. Both Gib and Evelyn named each other, the surviving spouse, to be the primary beneficiary of the trust. Ex. 11 at 2. Article VI of these Wills was entitled "Provisions for Children and More Remote Descendants". CP at 19. That provision provided that their daughter Leah would be the beneficiary of the CST once the surviving spouse passed. CP at 19. That provision also provided that if both the surviving spouse and Leah were deceased, the Trust estate would be distributed one half to the then living heirs of Gib and one half to the then living heirs of Evelyn. Id. There is no evidence that either Gib or Evelyn contemplated the City of Winlock as a beneficiary if Leah did not survive them in their original Wills. There is evidence that both Evelyn and Gib intended that in the event Leah did not survive to inherit, one half of the proceeds would be distributed to Evelyn's heirs and one half would be distributed to Gib's heirs. CP at 19; Ex. 117 at 1.

Gib executed a codicil to his will in 1997. He did not include the City of Winlock as a beneficiary in this document.

Ex. 12 at 1. After Gib died, the CST was established. Ex. 11. His estate was probated and the CST was established. CP 683, FF 9; 2/20/2022 RP 144; Exs. 4, 106. Evelyn intended to fully fund the trust with the Property, valued at \$627,000. FF 14; CP 683; FF 9 2/23/2022 RP 97, 103-04; Ex. 15; Exs. 4, 106. Inadvertently, Evelyn's one half of the Property was never transferred to the CST, resulting in Gib's Trust being underfunded by \$313,500.00. Ex. 15 at 4.

The trial court found clear cogent and convincing evidence that Evelyn treated and intended the Property as if it were wholly owned by the CST. FF 15, 16.

In 2010, Rene Remund represented Evelyn regarding Trust issues. Ex. 3. On October 12, 2010, Remund consulted with counsel regarding Trust issues. *Id.* Remund prepared a Quitclaim Deed and Excise Tax Affidavit to transfer the Property out of the CST. *Id.* Remund then drafted a letter regarding remote heirs and the transfer of Trust assets. *Id.* Evelyn knew remote heirs would take the trust assets, believing the entirety of the Property

was in the CST, yet chose not to transfer the assets. FF 15, 16; Ex. 3.

In 2011, Leah Owens died. FF 17. On June 2, 2012, Evelyn executed a new Will naming a trust for the benefit of the City of Winlock as the residual beneficiary. FF 18, 19. Evelyn died on October 18, 2012. FF 20.

In 2014, A TEDRA action was commenced to determine the beneficiaries to the CST assets. Exs. 9, 10, 13. The analysis the trial court adopted was that, although the Will did not contemplate Leah predeceasing Evelyn, the intent of the Will was clear as determined from the Will as a whole, and that the rightful beneficiaries of the CST were the then living heirs of Gib and Evelyn. Exs. 10; CP 292, 298.

Before the hearing, it was discovered that one-half of the Property had not been transferred to the CST. *Miller* II, Wash. App. LEXIS at 8.

A TEDRA Petition was commenced by the Beneficiaries in 2017. CP 1-6. The Estate filed a response and a Motion to

Dismiss. No counter claim was made, no filing fee was paid and no answer filed by the Beneficiaries. The Motion to Dismiss included a prayer for relief, requesting confirmation of one half ownership in the Property in the Estate and requesting an accounting and to pay one half of the proceeds to the Estate. CP 55-68.

the trial court entered summary judgment in favor of the beneficiaries, imposing a constructive trust. CP 359-362. The Estate appealed and the matter was remanded to determine Evelyn's intent with respect to disposition of the corner property. *Miller* I, 13 Wn. App 2d at 101.

The matter was tried in February of 2022. CP 681. The Estate did not present any evidence of damages at all. CP 681-690. The trial court entered a memorandum opinion in favor of the Beneficiaries, imposing a constructive trust. CP 567-71. The trial court later granted the estate's motion for reconsideration, reversing its memorandum decision. *Id*.

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered on February 24, 2023. CP 681-690. Conclusion of Law 15 ordered the trustee to provide an accounting with no corresponding finding of fact. *Id*.

A spreadsheet of all income and expenses was provided from the CST from the date the current trustee was appointed.<sup>3</sup> The Estate sought a money judgment based on this information. CP 736, 805, 806. The Beneficiaries objected, claiming no evidence of damages was presented and no claim had been made. CP 738. The trial court declined to enter a money judgment, and entered a judgment reserving damages for future proceedings. CP 1028-1031. The Beneficiaries timely appealed.

The Estate brought post judgment motions to determine money damages. CP 989-95, 1050-99. Ultimately, the motion subject to this appeal was filed well beyond the ten days required pursuant to CR 59(h). CP 989-95, 1107. The Estate did not bring

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Though the Conclusion of Law 15 provided for an accounting from the death of Evelyn, the Trial Court clarified that should not have been a conclusion of law but rather should have been an order from when the trustee was appointed. VRP 72.

a Motion for a New Trial pursuant to CR 59(a) or a Motion to reopen the Judgment pursuant to CR 59(g). A Trial Court does not abuse its discretion by not considering alternatives to relief that were not presented to it. *State v. Brooks*, 149 Wn. App. 373, 393, 203 P3.d 397 (2009) (afterwards, superseded by statute on other grounds).

## V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

# A. Standard for Accepting Review Under RAP 13.5 (b).

Discretionary review of an interlocutory order by an appellate court may be granted if "[t]he [appellate] court has committed probable error" and the decision "substantially alters the status quo or substantially limits the freedom of a party to act." RAP 13.5(b)(2). Discretionary review may also be granted when the Court of Appeals has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings as to call for the exercise of revisory jurisdiction of the Supreme Court. (RAP 13.5(b)(3)).

Here, the Court should grant discretionary review because the Court of Appeals erred in considering Evelyn's intent under her Will to establish an equitable base, when the Court should have only considered Evelyn's intent with respect to her interest in the Property as the remand from *Miller* 1 required. Gib's intent from his Will, which was already decided in an earlier proceeding by the trial court, controls. This substantially alters the status quo because the remand requires the Court to consider evidence never presented at trial and grant relief for which the Estate never requested. There was no evidence presented at trial to support the judgment.

The Court of Appeals erred finding the trial court abused its discretion in not granting relief which was never requested. This so far departs from usual judicial proceedings as to call for the exercise of revisory jurisdiction because the Court of Appeals did not utilize the correct application of the rule. See *In re Dependency of C.J.J.I.*, 4 Wn.3d 520, 565, P3d 891, (2025). The

Appeals Court improperly applied the clear cogent and convincing evidentiary standard.

The Court should also exercise its revisory jurisdiction as the Court of Appeals granted relief the Estate never requested. It is not an abuse of discretion to refuse to grant relief that the trial court was never asked to grant. *Brooks*, 149 Wn. App. At 393.

B. Gib Miller Intended Both His and Evelyn's Heirs Would Inherit in the Event that Both Leah and Evelyn Pre-Deceased Him, and Gib's Intent Controls, Not Evelyn's.

Gib and Evelyn included CSTs in their Wills to avoid estate taxes. CP 112. They did intend to benefit each other and their only child. CP at 19. Gib's Will provided that if neither Leah nor Evelyn were living when his estate was distributed, it would be distributed one half to his then living heirs and one half to Evelyn's. *Id*. Attorney Olson confirmed this in writing:

I intended by my draft, and I believe the Millers understood and intended, that in the event Leah Miller Owens did not survive and receive proceeds of the trust, the trust would be distributed one-half to the heirs of Evelyn and

Gilbert living as of the date of the survivor's death. Ex. 117 at 2.

The Court of Appeals held that the lack of any intent to benefit the Beneficiaries is dispositive. *Miller* II, Wash. App. LEXIS at 23, 26. However, Gib intended to benefit the Beneficiaries in his Will. In the first TEDRA action to determine the Heirs, the court established Heirs based on Gib's intent as expressed and gleaned from his Will. Exs. 10; CP 292, 298. He could not have known who would be then living at the time the trust was distributed. But he did intend the class of Heirs, half his and half Evelyn's, to inherit the trust if Leah did not survive.

The facts of this case do not support that neither Gib nor Evelyn intended their then living Heirs to benefit from their estates when the plain language of Gib's Will, as well as the basis for the ruling of the court when establishing the Heirs contradict the lower court's holding.

The main issue on remand from *Miller* 1 was to determine Evelyn's intent with respect to her community interest in the

Property. *Miller* I, 13 Wn. App 2d at 101. The trial court found there was clear cogent and convincing evidence Evelyn intended all of the property to be held by the trust, including her interest. CP 687-88; FF 31; Conclusion of Law 4.

To impose a constructive trust, the Court should apply the analysis contained within the Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment §55, to establish a constructive trust, the "first step is to establish that the defendant is liable in restitution by one of the substantive provisions of this Restatement." Id. The second step is to show that identifiable property is held by the defendant. Id. The second step is clearly established here. The only question is whether there is a substantive provision of the restatement warranting the imposition of a constructive trust. Here, there clearly is. When, as here, someone dies believing they had perfected a gift, when actually that gift was ineffective, restitution is required. Id at §11. In those circumstances, as is the case here, the donee has the right to restitution. The "rule of § 11(3) requires that the donor have

died or become incapacitated in the belief that the intended gift was properly perfected." *Id.* at *cmt*. d.

The Court of Appeals erred in adopting with approval one section of the restatement while completely ignoring companion sections directly applicable to the facts before it. *Miller* II, Wash. App. LEXIS at 25.

C. Despite Opportunities to Make Provisions to Benefit the City of Winlock in His Will, Neither Gib Nor Evelyn Chose To in Their 1996 Wills, and Gib Also Did Not Do So in His 1997 Codicil.

When Gib and Evelyn prepared their Wills, neither mentioned or considered benefiting Winlock. Exs 11, 117 They could have, for instance, provided that if neither Leah nor Evelyn survived, the trust property would have gone to the City of Winlock, they did not. Additionally, Gib prepared a codicil to his Will in 1997, thus providing another opportunity to consider the City of Winlock, but he did not do so. Ex 12 The first indication that the City of Winlock was to be considered was when Evelyn prepared a new Will, only a few months prior to her death. Ex 101 Though the Court of Appeals mentions the

connection between Gib and Evelyn and the City of Winlock, they fail to reconcile the fact that the heirs of the Millers were, in fact, specifically considered in their Wills up until the eve of Evelyn's death and Winlock was not.

## D. Evelyn Was Aware That Remote Heirs Would Inherit Gib's Trust Two Years Prior to Her Death and Chose Not to Make Any Changes.

The Court of Appeals also did not consider that Evelyn knew that her and Gib's heirs would take the trust property, which she believed included her one-half interest, and had opportunities to eliminate that possibility but made the choice not to. The Court of Appeals mentions that "if not for her age and health, she may have reformed the CST". Wash. App. LEXIS at 39. But this ignores evidence in the record that although Remund testified that when drafting her Will before she died, he raised the issue of remote heirs taking under the trust and that he believed it was too much for her to consider See RP 152, 164-65, 232-33, 243-44, 255-56. The Court did not consider that while Leah was still living Remund actually engaged counsel to

prepare a deed and excise tax affidavit to remove the property from the trust *specifically* to avoid shirttail relatives from taking. RP 71, 164-65, 233, 243-44, 252-54; Ex. 3. Evelyn made a conscious decision not to do so, and after Leah died she again made a conscious decision not to take any steps to address the situation when presented to her. Of course, she thought the entirety of the property, her one half included, was already in the trust at that time. FF 3, 4.

# E. Gib's Intent, Not Evelyn's Controls the Disposition of Gib's CST, and That Constitutes the Equitable Base To Impose a Constructive Trust

Evelyn did not know that her one half interest in the Property was not in the trust and therefore, could not have intended anything other than to have transferred it into the trust. Evelyn could not have both intended to transfer her interest into the trust as the court found by clear cogent and convincing evidence which has not been challenged, and also intended that same property to go to the City of Winlock. When Evelyn revised her Will a few months before she died and named the

City of Winlock to inherit the bulk of her estate, she did not know that bequest included any of the Property. Although she may have intended to benefit the City of Winlock in her Will, it is a legal impossibility that she could have intended that to include the Property.

Gib's Will clearly evidenced an intent to benefit Evelyn, then Leah and then his and Evelyn's then living heirs equally. Ex 11 The Court of Appeals mistakenly focused on Evelyn's intent in her Will rather than Gib's intent in his Will. Gib had every right to dispose of his one half of the Estate as he wished, and Evelyn by all accounts attempted to comply with his wishes by believing she had fully funded the trust with one half of the value of the combined estate at his death. It is the terms of Gib's Will that controls and his intent was indisputably to benefit the Beneficiaries under these specific circumstances.

The Court of Appeals held that there was no equitable base supporting the imposition of a constructive trust, however the

Court of Appeals ignored Gib's intent. A constructive trust is appropriate when the legal title holder was not the intended beneficiary. *Baker v. Leonard*, 120 Wn. 2d 538 at 548, 843 P.2d 1050 (1993) (citing *Mehelich v. Mehelich*, 7 Wn. App. 545, 500 P.2d 779 (1972)). Here, Evelyn intended the property to be transferred and there is no evidence Gib intended the City of Winlock to benefit at all. However, even if Evelyn's intent to benefit the heirs was controlling, her declination to modify her estate planning to prevent the heirs from benefiting demonstrates she had the same intent with respect to what she believed was the trust property.

F. The Estate Failed to Make a Counterclaim or File a New Action Under TEDRA, But Even if They Did, They Failed to Present any Evidence of Damages at Trial and Continuously Argued They Had No Claims Until the Conclusion of Trial

The Court of Appeals held that two lines in the request for relief in the Estate's Response and Motion to Dismiss the initial TEDRA Petition were sufficient to constitute a claim under CR 8. *Miller* II, Wash. App. LEXIS at 33, 34. The Court of Appeals

did not address the requirements of TEDRA or the fact that TEDRA's provisions "control over any inconsistent provision of the civil rules." RCW 11.96A.090(4) TEDRA requires any counterclaims to be filed and served at least five days before the initial hearing on the matter. RCW 11.96A.090(5) Here, the response and motion to dismiss filed in response to the initial petition did not include a counterclaim and did not plead a cause of action. CP 55-68. There was no answer to any counterclaim filed as the 'claim' as it were, was only contained within the prayer for relief, to which a response is normally not required. The trial court found that this was insufficient, but the Court of Appeals disagreed and held that the prayer for relief was sufficient pursuant to CR 8 with no analysis of TEDRA provisions that control over the civil rules.

The Estate failed to establish a valid counterclaim on multiple bases. As has been previously addressed, the cases cited by the appellate court themselves establish that while CR 8(a) allows for simple notice pleading, sufficient facts to put the

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