FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/25/2025 10:54 AM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1044887 Court of Appeals No. 58577-4-II (Lewis County Superior Court No. 17-4-00179-21)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Matter of: The Gilbert Miller Testamentary Credit Shelter Trust and The Estate of Mary Evelyn Miller

THE HEIRS OF GILBERT MILLER and THE HEIRS OF MARY EVELYN MILLER,

Appellants

v.

RENE REMUND, Personal Representative of the Estate of Mary Evelyn Miller,

Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

KHBB LAW PLLC

Karen R. Bertram WSBA #22051 705 Second Ave, Suite 800 Seattle, WA 98104

Phone: 206-382-4414 Fax: 206-382-4412

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

II. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Did Not Alter the Status Quo, Limit the Freedom of a Party, or Deviate from Accepted and Usual Course of Judicial Proceedings.

The Supreme Court accepts discretionary review only in limited circumstances. RAP 13.5(b). To obtain discretionary review of an interlocutory order in the Supreme Court, a party must show that the Court of Appeals has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings...as to call for the exercise of revisionary jurisdiction by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.5(b)(3), *In re Dependency of C.J.J.I.*, 4 Wn.3d 520, 523, 565 P.3d 891 (2025).

RAP 13.5(b) presumes the existence of an "accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings" and it requires "departure" from that course that is "so far...as to call for review or revision. *In re Dependency of C.J.J.I.*, 4 Wn.3d at 525. RAP 13.5(b) is not easily satisfied, and "a party must show the existence of a significant deviation, not merely a commonplace error." *Id.* The Supreme Court "appropriately intervenes prior to

a formal decision when the situation is significant enough to warrant interlocutory review." *Id.* at 526.

Here, the Heirs have not demonstrated any deviation from the acceptable and usual course of judicial proceedings, much less a significant deviation. The Court of Appeal's carefully drafted opinion addresses equitable, legal and procedural issues, all of which are supported by the Washington Supreme Court case law and the Washington Rules of Civil Procedure. There is no basis to grant discretionary review in this case.

B. Division Two Correctly Concluded that Substantial Evidence Supported the Trial Court's Decision that neither Gib nor Evelyn Intended to Benefit the Heirs.

The Heirs' contention that the Court of Appeals failed to apply the Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment §55 to establish a constructive trust is not consistent with Washington law. The Heirs argue that because Evelyn died believing she perfected a gift when the gift was ineffective requires restitution. (Petition at 14.) This is not the

basis to impose a constructive trust in Washington.

Constructive trusts are appropriate to give effect to a party's intent. *Ames v. Ames*, 184 Wn. App 826, 851, 349 P.3d 232 (2014). Division Two agreed with the trial court's finding that Evelyn did not intend to confer benefit on the Heirs. (App A at 12.)

The Heirs contend this Court should grant discretionary review of this issue because the Court of Appeals erred in considering Evelyn's intent under her Will to establish an equitable base when it should have only considered Evelyn's intent with respect to her interest in the property. (Petition at 11.) The Heirs argue this substantially alters the status quo because the prior remand required the Court of Appeals to consider evidence never considered at trial, and there was no evidence at trial to support the judgment. *Id*.

However, "the record shows that none of the [Heirs] had any expectation of receiving anything from Gib's or Evelyn's estates." (App A at 27.) The Heirs provide an example of what

Gib and Evelyn could have done when they prepared their Wills. (Petition at 15.) But this bit of fiction is not what occurred and has no relevance here.

The Heirs also falsely claim "the heirs of the Millers were, in fact, specifically considered in their Wills up until the eve of Evelyn's death." (Petition at 16.) As the Court of Appeals acknowledges, "the record shows that when Gib drafted his will, despite the provision regarding 'then living heirs' everyone assumed Leah would inherit both his and Evelyn's estates." (App A at 29.) Quoting the attorney who drafted the Wills, the Court of Appeals stated, "the language regarding the 'then living heirs' was boilerplate that Olsen had pulled from other estate plans." *Id*.

Nor did the Court of Appeals ignore Gib's intent, as alleged by the Heirs. (Petition at 19.) The Court of Appeals recognized Gib's intent was to benefit Evelyn, and then his daughter, Leah. (App A at 29-30.) Only when Leah predeceased Evelyn, did Evelyn execute a new Will benefiting the City of

Winlock. A testator's last will demonstrates their intent. RCW 11.12.230.

Division Two properly followed Washington precedent that recognizes "a constructive trust is an equitable remedy that courts may impose to compel the legal owner of a property to convey title to one who justly deserves it." Baker v. Leonard, 120 Wn.2d 538, 548, 843 P.2d 1050 (1993). If no equitable base exists, courts will not impose a constructive trust. Pitzer v Union Bank of California, 141 Wn.2d 539, 550, 9 P.3d 805 (2000). And where there is no wrongdoing, as is the case here, "there must be clear, cogent and convincing evidence of an equitable base to impose a constructive trust." Baker, 120 Wn.2d at 548. Division Two affirmed the trial court's conclusion that the Heirs failed to establish by clear, cogent and convincing evidence that Evelyn intended to benefit them or to receive assets from the Estate." (App A at 23.)

C. Division Two Upheld the Primary Purpose of Constructive Trusts under Washington Law, which is to Prevent Unjust Enrichment with Clear, Cogent and Convincing Evidence.

As consistently held by Washington courts, the primary purpose of constructive trusts is to prevent unjust enrichment. *Consulting Overseas Mgmt.*, 105 Wn. App. 80, 87, 18 P.3d 1144 (2001). Division Two disagreed with the Heirs that "Evelyn was unjustly enriched by her own property when she inadvertently neglected to convey it to the CST when doing so would have only benefitted herself." (App A at 28.)

The Heirs also argue that the Court of Appeals improperly applied the clear, cogent, and convincing evidentiary standard. As cited by Division Two, Washington law requires clear, cogent and convincing evidence of an equitable base to impose a constructive trust if there is no wrongdoing. *Baker*, 120 Wn.2d at 548; *accord*, *Pitzer*, 141 Wn.2d at 548. The Court of Appeals agreed there was no wrongdoing in this case. (App A at 28).

In *Pitzer*, the Washington Supreme Court declined to impose a constructive trust where, as is the case here, the evidence was clear that a decedent did not intend for the claimants, who were contingent beneficiaries, to share in the estate. *Pitzer*, 141 Wn.2d at 550. Likewise, the Court of Appeals found no clear, cogent or convincing evidence of Evelyn's or Gib's intent to benefit the Heirs.

The Court of Appeals properly held that Evelyn's intent to benefit the Heirs is necessary to impose a constructive trust.

(App A at 31.) In distinguishing the cases cited by the Heirs, the Court of Appeals stated, "Evelyn never articulated a specific intention to benefit the Beneficiaries. In fact, the record suggests that Evelyn did not wish to benefit the Beneficiaries at all." Furthermore, "the Beneficiaries were not identified until after Evelyn's death, thus Evelyn had no knowledge of who would actually take under the CST." (App A at 27.)

Because the record does not establish clear, cogent and convincing evidence that Evelyn intended to benefit the Heirs,

the Court of Appeals the Heirs failed to meet their burden of proof and the trial court's conclusion of law was supported by substantial evidence.

The Heirs assert that the Court of Appeals did not address the requirements of TEDRA. (Petition at 20).

According to the Heirs, the Estate was required to include a counterclaim and did not plead a cause of action in response to the initial petition. The Heirs cite RCW 11.96A.090(5) for this proposition, but no such statute exists. TEDRA did not require the Estate to file a counterclaim under RCW 11.96.100(5) as the Heirs assert. Nevertheless, the Heirs claim that the Court of Appeals provided no analysis of TEDRA provisions that control over civil rules when it concluded, the Estate's response requested:

- "B. Confirm one half ownership of the [Corner Property] in the Estate of Mary Evelyn Miller.
 - C. Require the trustee of the [CST] to account for all income and expenses since the discovery of the error and pay one half of the net proceeds to the Estate of Mary Evelyn Miller."

(emphasis added in original) (App A at 33.)

D. Division Two Correctly Held the Trial Court Erred When it Determined the Estate Did Not Sufficiently Request Relief and is Not Obvious Error.

The Court of Appeals also acknowledged that the "record also shows that as early as 2015, the parties contemplated a scenario in which the Estate would need to be compensated for one-half ownership in the Corner Property." *Id*.

The Heirs claim this is contrary to established case law and "deals with the required pleading standards" and therefore "has significant implications for virtually any civil case."

(Petition at 21.)

The Heirs argue the Court of Appeals so far departed from usual judicial proceedings to call for the exercise of revisionary jurisdiction because Division Two granted relief that the trial court was never asked to grant. On the contrary, Division Two held the trial court abused its discretion when it determined the Estate failed to plead an adequate request for

relief. The Court of Appeals found that the Estate's request for relief in its motion to dismiss was "a simple, concise statement that includes the relief sought—an equitable accounting and reimbursement to the Estate of its share of the CST proceeds." (App A at 33.) The Court of Appeals found "the record clearly shows that from the beginning of the current TEDRA action, and even prior, the Estate sought its share of the value of the CST" and put the Heirs "on notice of a claim for reimbursement. "(App A at 33-34.) Citing CR 8, the Court of Appeals held, "that is all that is required." (App A at 34.) The Court of Appeals also found that because the Estate properly pleaded a claim for equitable accounting and reimbursement, "there was no justification [for the trial court to require] the Estate to commence a new proceeding." (App A at 36.)

The Heirs contend the Estate never asserted its rights to property already titled in Evelyn's estate (Petition at 23.) The Heirs' accusation begs the question: What were the last eight

years of litigation about if not the ownership of the disputed property?

E. Division Two's Decision that the Trial Court Abused its Discretion When it Denied the Estate's Motion to Amend Judgment.

The Court of Appeals properly noted that a party may move to amend a judgement under CR 59 by filing a motion within 10 days from entry of the judgement, which the Estate timely filed. CR 59(h). "Appellate Courts review denial of a motion to amend a judgment for abuse of discretion."

Brundridge v. Flour Fed Servs., Inc. 164 Wn.2d 432, 454, 191 P.3d 879 (2008).

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court abused its discretion for denying the Estate's motion to amend judgment because "the final judgment here does not dispose of all the issues. (App A at 33.)

F. Division Two's Ruling that the Trial Court Abused its Discretion When it Entered an Incomplete Judgment By Reserving a Key Issue for Further Proceedings Is Consistent with CR 54.

Division Two accurately cited CR 54, which requires a final judgment to fully dispose of a case. The Estate argued that the trial court erred when it declined to include money damages in the final judgment and failed to compel the CST trustee to provide a complete accounting to determine the Estate's share of the CST proceeds. (App A at 31.)

In the February 2023 findings and conclusion, the trial court instructed the CST trustee to provide an accounting and reserved the issue of reimbursement to the Estate. However, the accounting was never completed. In May 2023, the trial court argued with the Estate that the judgment would not be final without a dollar amount owed to the Estate. Division Two acknowledged that the trial court's reasoning in May 2023 "comports with the legal principles underlying final judgments." *Rose v. Fritz*, 104 Wn. App. 116, 120, 15 P.3d 1062 (2001). The Court of Appeals then cited *Williams v. Snow*,

109 Wash 329, 331, 186 P, 861 (1920), which states "when the court is advised as to the facts in a case of which it has jurisdiction, it should apply the proper remedy, be it legal or equitable, since a party is not to be turned out of court if entitled to any relief under the pleaded facts." Citing *Gronquist* v. Dep'r of Corr., 177 Wn. App. 389, 397, 313 P.3d 416 (2013), the Court of Appeals held that "nothing should remain for the court but to execute that judgment. (App at 35.) But the trial court entered a final judgment that again reserved the issue of reimbursement for future proceedings. *Id*.

As cited by the Court of Appeals, a final judgment "is an order that adjudicat[es] all the claims, counts, rights and liabilities of all the parties." *Rose*, 104 Wn. App. at 120; CR 54(a). Division Two accurately concluded that the trial court's final judgment reserved a key issue for further proceedings. Because not all claims, rights and liabilities were adjudicated, the final judgment is incomplete. (App A at 36.)

The Heirs complain that the Court of Appeals did not and could not determine what relief would have been appropriate for the trial court to enter as a final judgment (Petition at 25.)

That is why the Court of Appeals remanded this issue to the trial court to "order an equitable accounting and for further proceedings consistent with an adjudication that resolves all claims, rights and liabilities" (App A at 36.) As the Court of Appeals noted multiple times throughout its opinion, the Estate is entitled to its one-half share of the CST, which has been in sole control of the CST trustee since this litigation began.

"Because the final judgment reserved a key issue for further proceedings, not all claims, rights and liabilities have been adjudicated." (App A at 36.) Therefore, the Court of Appeals appropriately reversed the trial court's entry of final judgment and remand for the trial court to order on equitable accounting and reimbursement. *Id*.

The Estate's money must be recovered as ordered by Division Two. It is long past time for this extraordinarily misguided litigation to be terminated.

G. This Court Should Award the Estate's Attorney Fees Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j).

The Court of Appeals awarded the Estate's attorney fees pursuant to RCW 11.96A.150. (App A at 36.) Because the Heirs' Petition for Discretionary Review should be denied, this Court should award the Estate the attorney fees incurred to answer the Heirs' Petition for Discretionary Review pursuant to RAP 18.1(j) and RCW 11.96A.150.

III. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals accurately concluded that a constructive trust is an equitable remedy based on a decedent's intent. The Supreme Court should not accept review of Division Two's well-reasoned opinion, which is consistent with longstanding Washington Supreme Court precedent. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.5(b)(2) because Division Two did

not commit probable error that alters the status quo or substantially limit the freedom of a party to act, or so far depart from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings or sanction such a departure by the trial court to call for the exercise of revisionary jurisdiction by the Supreme Court as required under RAP 13.5(b)(3).

This Court should award the Estate its attorney fees incurred to answer the Heirs' Petition for Discretionary Review pursuant to RAP 18.1(j) and RCW 11.96A.150.

This document contains 3,250 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17(b)(2).